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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF OHIO
EASTERN DIVISION

%QEEY1772

v - JUDGE waTip

RODNEY E. DAUSCH
AND THOMAS O, OESTERLING,

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION, : 1
Plaintiff, : C.A.

MAG 1 MGF DEREL MAN

Defendants,

COMPLAINT

Plaintiff United States Securities and Exchange Commission (“Commission™)
alleges as follows:

1. In August 2000, Defendants, Thomas O. Oesterling (“Oesterling”),
formerly Gliatech Inc.’s (“Gliatech”) Chief Executive Officer (“CEQ”), President and
Chairman of the Board of Directors, and Rodney Dausch (“Dausch’), formerly Gliatech’s
Chief Financial Officer (“CFO™), (collectively, “Defendants™) failed to disclose material
information in Gliatech’s Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2000 filed with the

Commission. Specifically, Oesterling and Dausch failed to disclose known data integrity




problems with clinical studies relating to Gliatech’s primary product, Adcon-L Anti-
Adhesion Barrier Gel (“Adcon-L”). These data integrity problems played a significant
role in the collapse of merger discussions between Gliatech and Guilford
Pharmaceuticals, Tne., and in the resulting decline in the price of Gliatech’s stock.

2. Dausch and Qesterling, directly and indirectly, have engaged and, unless
enjoined, will continue to engage in acts, practices, and courses of business that violate
Section 10(b) of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934 (“Exchange Act”) [15 U.S.C.
§§ 78j(b)] and Rule 10b-5 [17 C.F.R. §§ 240.10b-5] thereunder, and, have aided and
abetted, and unless enjoined, will continue to aid and abet acts, practices and courses of
business that constitute violations of Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §§
78m(a)} and Rules 12b-20 and 13a-13 [17 C.F.R. §§ 240.12b-20, 240.13a-13] thereunder.

3. The Commission brings this action to enjoin such acts, practices, and
courses of business pursuant to Sections 20(e), 21{d), and 21(e) of the Exchange Act. [15
U.S.C. §§ 78t(a), 78u(d), and 78u(e)].

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

4, The Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to Sections 21(e) and
27 of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §§ 78u(e), 78aa] and 28 U.S.C. § 1331. Venueis
proper in this Court pursuant to Section 27 of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78aa].

5. The acts, practices and courses of business constituting the violations
alleged herein have occurred within the jurisdiction of the United States District Court for

the Northern District of Chio, Eastern Division and elsewhere.




6. Defendants, directly and indirectly, made use of the means and
instrumentalities of interstate commerce and of the mails in connection with the acts,
practices, and courses of business alleged herein.

7. Defendants will, unless enjoined, continue to engage in the acts, practices
and courses of business set forth in this complaint, and acts, practices and courses of
business of similar purport and object.

DEFENDANTS

g. On information and belief, Dausch, age 59, is a resident of Westchester,
Pennsylvania. Dausch is licensed as a Certified Public Accountant. During the relevant
time period, Dausch was Gliatech’s Vice President of Finance and CFO. Dausch was
employed at Gliatech from 1995 until August 2000,

9. Oesterling, age 66, is a resident of Chagrin Falls, Ohio. During the
relevant time period, Oesterling was Gliatech’s Chairman, President and CEO.
Oesterling was employed at Gliatech from 1989 until the fall of 2000. Qesterling is now
retired.

GLIATECH

10. At all relevant times, Gliatech was a Delaware corporation. Gliatech’s
main offices were located in Beachwood, Ohio. Gliatech was primarily a research and
development company of products used to improve surgical outcomes and to treat
neurological disorders. At all relevant times, Gliatech’s common stock was traded on the

National Association of Securities Dealers” Automated Quotation System.




11.  Pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act, and the rules and
regulations thereunder, Gliatech filed periodic and other informational reports, including
Forms 10-K and Forms 10-Q, with the Commission.

ADCON-L

12.  Adcon-I. Adhesion Barrier Gel (“Adcon-L") is a gel-like substance, which
is applied to the patient’s incision site during back surgery. The purpose of Adcon-L is to
reduce scarring following back surgery. In December 1996, Gliatech submitted its
application to distribute Adcon-L in the United States to the FDA. After the F DA’s
approval in May 1998, Adcon-L became Gliatech’s only product to be marketed in the
United States and its major source of revenue. However, as an express condition of its
approval, the FDA required Gliatech to submit a completed study of clinical trials of
Adcon-L (“U.S. Adcon-L Study”) to the FDA.

Integrity Problems With the U.S. Adcon-L Study

13.  InMarch 1999, Gliatech submitted the U.S. Adcon-L Study. At the time
it submitted the study, Gliatech did not disclose that it had substituted data from another
study into the U.S. Adcon-L Study.

14.  Inthe summer of 2000, the FDA conducted an investigation of the U.S.
Adcon-1. Study. During that investigation, the FDA raised serious concemns about the
integrity of the U.S. Adcon-L Study. The FDA’s concerns arose from Gliatech’s failure
to disclose the data substitution and that Good Clinical Practices (“GCP”) had not been

followed in the connection with the U.S. Adcon-L Study.




Oesterling and Daucsh’s Knowledge of Adcon-L’s Integrity Problems

15.  During the course of the FDA’s investigation in the summer of 2000,
Qesterling and Dausch learned of the serious nature of Adcon-L’s integrity problems. On
or around June 30, 2000, a Gliatech consultant told Qesterling that the FDA had
determined that Good Clinical Practices had not been followed in the connection with the
U.S. Adcon-L Study. The consultant also explained to Qesterling that these GCP
violations compromised the data in the study.

16. On July 10, 2000, Gliatech’s Director of Clinical Research alerted Dausch
that the FDA had just accused one of Gliatech’s empioyees, a project assistant on the
U.S. Adcon-L Study (“project assistant”), of falsifying study data. Later that day, Dausch
told Oesterling that the FDA had concerns about how the U.S. Adcon-L Study was
conducted and told him about the accusations against the project assistant.

17.  During the following two weeks, Oesterling spoke to the project assistant
on various occasions about the events that occurred with the data substitution and GCP
violations. In these conversations, Oesterling learned of irregularities such as recording
the data in pencil and erasures. He also learned that the project manager of the U.S.
Adcon-L Study had directed the statisticians to substitute data for the clinical data in the
Adcon-L Study.

18.  Dausch also knew about Adcon-L’s data integrity problems. As co-chair
of Gliatech’s committee that was established to oversee the FDA’s investigation of the
U.S. Adcon-L Study (“oversight committee™), Dausch developed an understanding of the
issues being raised by the FDA. The oversight committee monitored the FDA’s

investigation and in some instances they analyzed data that the FDA was examining. For




example, onc committee member prepared written analyses of the effect of scar score
changes and erasures. Dausch was copied on both of these documents.

19.  Dausch’s July 13, 2000 notes that he took at an oversight committee
meeting indicate that he knew about Adcon-L’s problems. His nine pages of handwritten
notes show that as of July 13, 2000, he knew critical evidence concerning Gliatech’s GCP
violations. Dausch’s notes also show that he knew about the data substitution. In fact,
his notes show that he knew that Gliatech might be forced to scrap the U.S. Adcon-L
Study data and “Do a whole new read.”

20.  On or around July 26, 2000, Dausch received a timeline depicting critical
events relating to the problems with the U.S. Adcon-L Study.

21. Tn August 2000, Gliatech and Guilford were in the final stages of the
merger negotiations. On August 11, 2000, during discussions with the Guilford’s CEQ,
Dausch and another Gliatech employee first informed the CEO of the merger company of
the integrity problems related to the U.S. Adcon-L Study.

Dausch and Osterling’s Failure To Disclose Integrity Problems In Form 10-Q

22.  On August 14, 2000, Gliatech issued its Form 10-Q for the period ended
June 30, 2000 (“Form 10-Q0””). The Form 10-Q did not disclose the integrity problems
with the U.S. Adcon-L Study.

23.  Dausch signed the Form 10-Q and both Oesterling and Dausch
participated in its preparation.

COUNT I

Violations of Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78j(b)]
and Rule 10b-5 [17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5] thereunder




24.  Paragraphs 1 through 23 above are realleged and incorporated by
reference.

25.  Defendants, In connection with the purchase and sale of Gliatech’s
securities, directly and indirectly, by the use of the means and instrumentalities of
interstate commerce, of the mails, or of the facilities of a national securities exchange:
employed devices, schemes and artifices to defrand; made untrue statements of material
fact and omitied to state material facts necessary in order to make the statements made, in
light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; and engaged in
acts, practices and courses of business which operated or would operate as a fraud and
deceit upon purchasers and sellers and prospective purchasers and sellers of such
securities.

76.  Defendants knew or were reckless in not knowing of the facts and
circumstances described in paragraphs 1 through 23 above.

27. By reason of the activities described in paragraphs 1 through 23 above,
Defendants violated Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act {15 U.8.C. § 78j(b)] and Rule
10b-5 thereunder [17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5].

COUNTII
Aiding and Abetting Violations of Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act
115 U.S.C. § 78t(a)] and Rules 12b-20, 13a-1, and 13a-13
[17 C.F.R. §§ 240.12b-20, 240.13a-1, and 240.13a-13] thereunder

28.  Paragraphs 1 through 23 above arc realleged and incorporated by

reference.



70 As set forth more fully above in paragraphs 1 through 23 above, Gliatech
violated Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act [15 U.5.C. § 78m(a)] and Rules 12b-20 and
13a-13 [17 C.F.R. §§ 240.12b-20, 240.13a-13] promulgated thereunder.

30. By their conduct described in paragraphs 1 through 23 above, Defendants
knowingly and substantially assisted Gliatech’s violations of Section 13(a} of the
Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78m(a)] and Rules 12b-20, and 13a-13 [17 CF.R. §§
240.12b-20, 240.13a-1, and 240.132-13] promulgated thereunder, and thereby aided and
abetted Gliatech in such violations.

RELIEF REQUESTED

WHEREFORE, the Commission requests that this Court enter a judgment:

A. finding that Defendants committed the violations alleged above;

B. permanently enjoining Defendants from violating Sections 10(b) and
Rules 10b-5 thereunder;

C. permanently enjoining Defendants from aiding and abetting violations
of Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act and Rules 12b-20, and 13a-13
thereunder;

D. barring Oesterling from serving as an officer or director of any issuer
required to file reports with the Commission under Sections 12(b),
12(g), or 15(d) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §§ 78/(b), 78/(g), and
780(d)], pursuant to Section 21(d)(2) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C.

§ 78u(d)2)];

e e e




E. ordering Defendants to each pay an appropriate civil monetary penalty
pursuant to Section 21(d)(3) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §
78u(d)(3)];

F. retaining jurisdiction over this action to implement and carry out the
terms of all orders and decrees that may be entered; and

G. granting such other and additional relief as this Court deems just and
proper.

Dated: AugustZL, 2004

Respectfully submitted,

il Y A
oy Marchbanks Boddie
//l;xas Bar No. 2542200

boddiej@sec. gov (e-mail}

QT2

JaretdB. Decker

District of Columbia Bar No.
436436

deckerj@sec. gov (e-mail)

Attorneys for Plaintiff

1U.S. Securities and Exchange
Commissicn

Midwest Regional Office

175 West Jackson Blvd.
Suite 900

Chicago, Tllinois 60604

(312) 353-7390

FAX (312) 353-7398
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